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KHALID ELHASSAN, Esq. '
Plaintiff Pro Se

c/o EICHEN LEVINSON, LLP

40 Ethel Road

Edison, NJ 08817

(732) 777-0100

kelhassan@eichenlevinson.com

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF

NEW JERSEY
} Docket No. 2:06-cv-01000
KHALID ELHASSAN, )
) Civil Action
Plaintiff, )
) NOTICE OF MOTION FOR
) LEAVE TO AMEND THE
V. ) COMPLAINT
)
PORTER GOSS, et als., ) Returnable 2/12/2007
)
Defendants. )
)

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that on February 12, 2007, or as soon thereafier as
counsel may be heard, the undersigned will move pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 15 for
leave to amend the Complaint, and for an Order granting same, in the United States
District Court for the District of New Jersey.

PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that a true and correct copy of the
Appeal, including brief, exhibits, and proposed Order, accompanies this Notice of
Motion.

PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that Plaintiff requests oral argument if
timely opposition to this Motion is filed.

KHALID ELHASSAN,
Plaintiff Pro Se

Deed: )7 6’2”} By: % .

" Khalid Plhassdh
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PERTIVER D ErY
KHALID ELHASSAN, Esq. L :E'
Plaintiff Pro Se :
c/o EICHEN LEVINSON, LLP DL o o

40 Ethel Road
Edison, NJ 08817
(732) 777-0100

kelhassan@eichenlevinson.com

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF

NEW JERSEY
) Docket No. 2:06-cv-01000
KHALID ELHASSAN, )
) Civil Action
Plaintiff, )
) MOTION FOR LEAVE TO
) AMEND THE COMPLAINT
V. )
) CERTIFICATION OF
PORTER GOSS, et als., ) KHALID A. ELHASSAN,
) Esq.
Defendants. )
)

I, KHALID A. ELHASSAN, of full age, certify and say:

1. I am the Plaintiff pro se in the above-captioned matter, and have full
knowledge of the following.

2. I make this affidavit in support of the Motion for Leave to Amend the
Complaint to add additional defendants, claims stemming from wrongful acts and
omissions occurring after the filing of the initial Complaint, as well as adding and/or
clarifying a count of negligent hiring and supervision.

3. Attached hereto as “Exhibit A” is the Amended Complaint that is the
subject matter of the instant motion seeking Leave to Amend:

a. M 126-134 of the Amended Complaint reflect wrongful acts and

omissions by the defendants in the initial Complaint, as well as new
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defendants Philip Lezenby, Martha Treese, and Meghan Matulka, which
wrongful acts and omissions occurred in anticipation of the instant
litigation in an attempt to thwart or influence same, or after the filing of
the initial Complaint, in an attempt to thwart or influence same, and ¥ 19-
21 add Treese, Lezenby, and Matulka as defendants in the Amended
Complaint.

b. 9135 of the Amended Complaint reflects unlawful conduct by the
defendants, occurring after filing of the initial Complaint, violative of 42
USC § 1985, 18 USC § 241, and 18 USC § 1512, and comprising illegal
retaliation against Plaintiff for his exercise of privileges and rights
guaranteed by the US Constitution — specifically, Plaintiff’s protected
privilege and right to seek legal redress in this Court.

c. 1 136 of the Amended Complaint reflects further unlawful
retaliatory conduct by the defendants in the initial Complaint, which
unlawful conduct occurred after the filing of the initiat Complaint.

d. ¥ 195 of the Amended Cémplaint reflects defamatory conduct
occurring after the filing of the initial Complaint.

€. 99 197-206 of the Amended Complaint clarify and/or add the US
governmental defendants’ chain of command’s negligent hiring and
supervision of those who brought about the harm for which redress is

sought.

f. 9 111-112 of the Amended Complaint identify specific US

government officials to whose attention Plaintiff brought the wrongful acts
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and omissions that are the subject matter of the within complaint, who
knew or should have known of same, but took no corrective action, and §
10-14 of the Amended Complaint add same as defendants in their official
capacity.

2. 9 6 of the Amended Complaint adds CIA Director Michael Hayden
as a defendant in his official capacity, Mr. Hayden having replaced
defendant Porter Goss as CIA Director after the filing of the initial
Complaint.

h. 9 23 of the Amended Complaint adds as defendants business
entities, identity unknown at present, that participated in or helped bring
about the harm for which redress is sought.

i. 9 24 of the Amended Complaint adds as defendants John and Jane
Does, identity unknown at present, who participated in or helped bring
about the harm for which redress is sought.

4. Therefore, it is respectfully requested that the Court grant this motion and

permit Plaintiff Leave to Amend the Complaint.

I certify under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Executed on this

fifth day of January, 2007. ]ﬂ %

Khalid A. Elhassan
Plaintiff Pro Se

40 Ethel Road
Edison, NJ 08817
(732) 777-0100

T
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Exhibit

“A”
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KHALID ELHASSAN, Esq.
Plaintift Pro Se

c/o EICHEN LEVINSON, LLP
40 Ethel Road

Edison, NJ 08817

(732) 777-0100

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF
NEW JERSEY

1 Docket No. 2:06-cv-01000

KHALID ELHASSAN,
Civil Action
Plaintift,
: AMENDED CIVIL COMPLAINT
V. : AND JURY DEMAND

UNITED STATES; MICHAEL HAYDEN; :
PORTER GOSS; GEORGE TENET; :
JAMES PAVITT; ROBERT MUELLER;
GRANT ASHLEY; CHRISTOPHER
WRAY; MICHAEL MASON; NOEL
HILLMAN; CENTRAL INTELLIGENCE
AGENCY; TRAVIS CLOSE; PATRICK
EAGER; WANDA MITCHELL; “ERIC”;
CENTRAL INTELLIGENCE AGENCY;
FEDERAL BUREAU OF
INVESTIGATIONS; MEGHAN

MARTHA TREESE; JOHN and JANE
DOE 1-100 (such names being fictitious); :
and CORPORATIONS ABC 1-10 (such :
names being fictitious),

Defendants.

COMPLAINT

Plaintift Khalid Elhassan (“Plaintiff™), suing on behalf of himself, complains as follows

against the above-captioned Defendants:
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INTRODUCTION

I This action seeks redress for illegal and/or tortuous acts stemming from the
corruption and racism rife within the Central Intelligence Agency’s (“CIA™) Clandestine Service
Training (“CST”) division and to which Plaintiff was subjected, that were committed by
Defendants in connection with Plaintiff’s application for employment with the CIA, the security
clearance processes which ensued, the harassment, hazing and discrimination to which Plaintiff
was subjected, and the subsequent retaliation to which Plaintiff was subjected when he
complained of said harassment, corruption, and racism.

2. Plamntitf alleges that Defendants engaged in and conspired to commit tortuous and
wrongful acts including violations of Plaintiff’s civil rights, viclations of 42 USC § 1981, 42
USC § 1982, 42 USC § 1983, 42 USC § 1985, 42 USC § 1986, violations of rights under Title
VII U.S.C., mvasion of privacy, abuse of process, malicious prosecution, common law fraud,
wronglul interference with business opportunities, intentional infliction of emotional distress,
negligent hiring and supervision, failure to investigate and/or take corrective action, and
violation of Plaintiff’s constitutional rights under the Fourth and Fifth Amendments so as to give
rise to a Bivens action.

JURISDICTION

3. This court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1343,

1346, 1356, 1361, 2201 and 2671 et seq.; Bivens v. Six Narcotics Agents, 403 U.S. 388 (1971);

and supplemental jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367.
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YENUE

4. Venue in this District is proper pursuant to 28 USC §§ 1391 and 1402, as Plamtff
resides in this District, the Defendants are a federal agency and employees of a federal agency,
and many of the claims arose in and/or continued in this District.

PARTIES

5. Plaintiff, Khalid Elhassan, is an African American of Middle Eastern descent,
residing at 182-A Rutgers Road, in the township of Piscataway, County of Middlesex, and State
of New Jersey.

6. Defendant Michael Hayden is the director of the Central Intelligence Agency
(“CIA”), a United States govermment agency with headquarters in Langley, Virginia, and

operations worldwide.

7. Defendant Porter Goss was director of the CIA at times material hereto.
8. Defendant George Tenet was director the CIA at times material hereto.
9. Defendant James Pavitt was deputy director of the CIA’s Directorate of

Operations (“DO”) at times material hereto.

10.  Defendant Robert Mueller is the director of the United States Federal Bureau of
Investigations {“FBI™), a United States government agency.

11.  Defendant Grant Ashley was an assistant director in charge of the FBI's Criminal
Investigative Division at times material hereto.

12.  Defendant Michael Mason was an assistant director in charge of the FBI’s

Metropolitan Washington Field Office at times material hereto.

-
2
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13.  Defendant Christopher Wray was an assistant attorney general of the United
States Department of Justice (“DOJ”) and in charge of its Criminal Division at times material
hereto.

14.  Defendant Noel Hillman was in charge of the DOJ’s Public Integrity Section at
times material hereto.

15.  Defendant Wanda Mitchell is or was a CIA recruiter or agent, working for the
CIA’s Directorate of Operations (“D0O™), Clandestine Service Training (“CST”) Division, or an
agent or employee of other Defendants acting in concert.

16.  Defendant Travis Close is or was a CIA employee or agent or agent or employee
of other Defendants acting in concert.

17.  Defendant Patrick Eager is or was a CIA employee or agent or agent or employee
of other Defendants acting in concert.

18.  Defendant “Eric” is or was a CIA employee or agent or agent or employee of
other Defendants acting in concert, and was Defendants Close’s and Eager’s immediate
supervisor.

19.  Defendant Meghan Matulka presented herself to Plaintiff as an attorney with the
Office of the Public Defender of Fairfax County, Virginia.

20.  Defendant Philip Lezenby presented himself to Plaintitf as a member of the New
Jersey Board of Bar Examiners’ Committee on Character.

21.  Defendant Martha Treese presented herself to Plaintiff as counsel to the New

Jersey Board of Bar Examiners.
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22, Defendants John and Jane Doe 1-10 are employees or agents of the CIA or other
Defendants acting in concert, whose identities are unknown to Plaintiff, and who acted under the
direction of and concert with the named Defendants to commit the acts complained of.

23, Detendants Corporations ABC 1-10 are business entities that acted in concert
with the Defendants identified in 9 6 through 22, supra, who co-conspired, implemented, carried
out, or otherwise participated in the illegal course of action complained of herein. Their
identities are ascertainable from the Defendants’ records and via discovery.

24, Defendants John and Jane Does 1-100 are principals, emplovees, agents and
servants, actual or ostensible, of the Defendants identified in 9 6 through 23, supra, who co-
conspired, implemented, carried out, or otherwise participated in the illegal course of action
complained of herein. Their identities are ascertainable from the Defendants’ records and via
discovery.

25, Investigator Fox presented herseif to Plaintiff as an employee of the DIA, in
connection with Plaintiff’s security clearance.

26.  Investigator Russ or Ray presented himself to Plaintiff as an employee of the
DIA, in connection with Plaintiff’s security clearance.

27.  David Thompson is a CIA employee or agent or agent or employee of other
Defendants acting in concert.

28.  Stella Accorinti is or was a CIA employee or agent or agent or employee of other
Defendants acting in concert.

29.  Thomas Gallahue is a judge in the Fairfax County General District Court.

30. At all times material hereto, Defendants acted individually or by and through their

employees, agents and servants, actual or ostensible, who then and there were acting within the
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course and scope of their duties, agency, employment and/or authority. The conduct complained
of herein was carried out by each Defendant acting in concert with the other Defendants.

FACTS UNDERLYING THE COMPLAINT

~

31 Following the terror attacks of September 11, 2001, Plaintiff sent a resume and
cover letter to the CIA, volunteering and seeking employment as an Operations Officer with the
CIA’s Directorate of Operations.

32.  Following a series of interviews by CIA recruiters, Plaintiff was offered
employment in April of 2002, and asked whether he would be available for a yearlong
Clandestine Service Training (“CST”) class scheduled to start in July of 2002.  Plaintiff
responded that he would be available in July if given one or two weeks’ notice prior to the start
date, and soon thereafter received Conditional Offer of Employment Letter (“COE Letter™),
dated Aprii 16, 2002,

33.  On or about May of 2002, Plaintiff underwent an additional series of interviews
with the CIA, including a two day interview with a CIA polygrapher-psychiatrist.

34.  During the second day of interviews with the CIA’s polygrapher-psychiatrist,
Plaintiff was strapped to a chair while artached to various sensors. After many hours of
repetitive and lulling questions while being instructed to keep his eyes focused on a blank wall,
the polygrapher-psychiatrist tightened some straps on Plaintiff’s arm so as to cut or reduce
Plaintift’s circulation, and instructed Plaintiff to count back from ten to one as a means of

inducing hypnosis — without informing Plaintiff that he was to be hypnotized or obtaining

Plaintiff’s consent to same.
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35.  Plaintiff was hypnotized for an unknown period of time. He awoke to the
polygrapher-hypnotist snapping his fingers, and instructing Plaintiff by way of post-hypnotic
suggestion that he “fell asieep™ and “don 't tell anybody about this.”

36.  Plaintiff knew too little of hypnosis at the time to understand the significance of
what had occurred, but nonetheless felt sullied, dirtied, and troubled by the event so as to have
second thoughts about working for the CIA.

37. On May 22“d, 2002, Plaintiff was interviewed 1n his office by a DIA investigator
named Fox, who informed Plaintiff that she was conducting a security clearance background
investigation on him. Investigator Fox concentrated her questions on Plaintiff’s income, and was
particularly interested in the margin between Plaintiff’s income and expenditures. Investigator
Fox was also interested in finding out when a public interest legal fellowship on which Plaintiff
was then-employed would end, as well as his alternative future career plans should he not end up
working for the U.S. government. Plaintiff informed investigator Fox that the fellowship would
end in Mid-to-late November, 2002, and that should he not end up working for the U.S.
government, Plaintiff would pursue his pre-9/11 plans and seek an associate’s position in a
plaintift law firm.

38.  The answers to investigator Fox’s questions were subsequently used, as described
below, as part of the CIA recruitment process, in order to maneuver Plaintiff into financial
straits, and foreclose or limit Plaintiff’s opportunities for alternative future employment so as to
render Plaintiff a more vulnerable and thus more pliant recruit.

39.  Investigator Fox also requested that Plaintiff provide the contact information for

any of his former girlfriends. On grounds of his and their privacy, Plaintiff declined that request.
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40. Investigator Fox then asked Plaintiff whether he had a girlfriend at the time, and
Plaintiff informed her that he did not.

41.  Intercepting, tapping into, and manipulating Plaintiff’s telephone and other
communications as well as electronic correspondence on personals websites, from 2002 through
the presence, the CIA then arranged a series of CIA agent girlfriends for Plaintiff.

42, Starting in late May of 2002, Plaintiff met and was entertained by a series of
female CIA agents, all of whom expressed keen interest in, and quizzed Plaintiff about, his views
on the topics that had been of keen interest to the CIA rtecruiters with whom Plaintiff had
previously interviewed. They also methodically quizzed Plaintiff on the answers Plaintiff had
given CIA interviewers.

43, In June of 2002, Plaintiff began dating and commenced physical relationships
with some of the female agents sent his way by the CIA recruiters, one of whom was Defendant
Wanda Mitchell.

44, Defendant Mitchell sought to act as Plaintiff’s “mentor” during the course of what
she told Plaintiff would be a long and tortuous recruitment process that Plaintiff might not
understand, but with which he should nonetheless be patient. She informed Plaintiff that the
process entailed considerable hazing, and likened it to what she called “prags” and “pragging” —
slang terms popularized at the time by a cable television series and referring to a perverted and
sadomasochistic relationship between dominant and submissive prisoners. She added that to
thrive in the CIA’s Directorate of Operations, one has to be a “glutton for punishment.”

45.  Defendant Mitchell ailso informed Plaintiff that his progress within the
recruitment process was contingent upon Plaintiff’s maintaining and continuing the dating

relationship with Mitchell.
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46. Defendant Mitchell grew cross when Plaintiff informed her that he thought the
process she described sounded juvenile insofar as the hazing, was troubling in that it resembled
induction into a cult rather than a federal agency, and had a high potential for corruption and
abuse in light of the secrecy and lack transparency surrounding her work — as evinced by
Mitchell informing Plaintiff, a job applicant, that his progress was contingent upon the
continuation of a personal and meretricious relationship with her.

47.  Defendant Mitchell grew more cross when Plaintiff told her he was thinking of
withdrawing his application for employment with the CIA, and refused to simply “be patient”
and “just go along” as Mitchell advised. When Plaintift explained that the CIA was, at the end
of the day, “a federal agency, not God,” Mitchell began a running joke themed around the CIA
actuaily being close to the Almighty, and began thereafter to make pointed and sinister remarks
to the effect that Plaintiff would change his mind in due course.

48.  Mitchell grew even more cross when Plaintiff stopped sleeping with her soon
thereafter. She nonetheless continued to call and visit Plaintiff until told he no longer wished to
see her.

49.  Also in June of 2002, a DIA investigator by the name of Ray or Russ contacted
Plaintiff to inquire about Plaintiff’s then-place of residence, 8205 Cooper Street, in Fairfax,
Virginia. Investigator Ray or Russ asked whether Plaintiff had a personal relationship or ties
with either Plaintiff’s landlord or the owner of the property in which Plaintiff dwelled, or
whether the relationship was an arms’ length landlord-tenant relationship. Plaintiff tolc.l
investigator Ray or Russ that the relationship and ties were simply those of landlord-tenant.
Investigator Ray or Russ then asked whether Plaintiff’s name was on the lease, and was told that

it was not.
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